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2 Introduction

2017 proved to be a challenging and eventful year for the
ACB — there is no indication that the pace of change in
laboratory medicine is declining, and effective and
efficient delivery of laboratory services has been a major
focus across the UK. Against this background, it has been
pleasing to see both the esteem in which the Association
and its members are held and also the very strong and
positive contribution which members have made to
discussions in relation to pathology reorganisation and the
development of relevant networks in Scotland, Wales,
Northern Ireland and the English regions.
Within England, NHS Improvement has produced proposals
to establish 29 pathology networks, with the stated aim of
saving the NHS £200 million by 2020-21. There was little
consultation about the initial proposals, but the
Association has sought to highlight the critical role of
clinical scientists and chemical pathologists in the
leadership and delivery of high quality services, and the
need to focus on the impact of pathology services on
patient pathways and outcomes. It would be foolish to
seek short term savings in laboratory services that might
lead to significant additional costs elsewhere in the health
care system. Indeed, we know that investment in
laboratory services has the potential to produce
significant savings elsewhere. A whole system view is
essential if the best use of resources is to be realised and
ACB members are ideally qualified and positioned to
identify evidence-based, whole system solutions which
make the best use of existing and emerging science in
laboratory medicine. We have encouraged our members to
liaise closely with their chief executives to ensure that
emerging networks have the right leadership and structure
to make the most of the opportunities that exist, and to
avoid the mistakes that might otherwise happen.
Discussions about the development of laboratory services
in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland have taken place
separately, and ACB members have been closely involved
in each case. It is important that these experiences are
shared across the UK and they have been a regular topic
of discussion at ACB Council meetings in 2017.
Relevant international examples are also of considerable
interest, and those of you who were able to attend FiLM
will have benefitted considerably from the opportunity to
compare UK practice with that in other countries. FiLM
remains one of the highlights of the ACB year, with an
outstanding programme and speakers, and I would
encourage all members to look out for next year’s meeting
which will be launched at Focus 2018, in Manchester.
Focus 2017 was held for the first time in the Armouries
Museum in Leeds, with excellent feedback from both
delegates and exhibitors. Administrative support for the
meeting was provided by ACB office staff and was
delivered successfully. In light of this experience,

Executive and Council have agreed that administrative
support for both Focus and FiLM will in future be provided
by the ACB office, which we hope will enable us to deliver
an improved experience for all who attend. We have also
agreed that Focus 2019 will return to Glasgow, and for the
first time in 2020 we will take Focus to Belfast. Further
details of both of these meetings will follow in due
course, and we are grateful to ACB office staff for taking
on these new responsibilities in addition to all of the other
roles which they deliver so effectively. We plan a review
of all office activities in the near future in order to ensure
adequate resourcing as we move forwards.
The ACB is, of course, more than just a leading national
laboratory medicine organisation. In addition, the ACB and
its members play a leading role in both the European and
International Federations of Clinical Chemistry and
Laboratory Medicine (EFLM and IFCC). Indeed, there are
more members from the ACB involved in EFLM committees
and working groups than from any other country. There
are regular opportunities for ACB members to join various
international groups, and I would strongly encourage
anyone who might be interested in making a contribution
of this kind to respond to available opportunities as they
arise. Regional Chairs are regularly advised of these.

Introduction

Annual Report & Accounts 2017

Introduction 3

All of those who contribute to ACB activities do so with the
support of their employers or in their own time. Within this
annual report, you will find a record or some of these
activities, from both regions and functional units.
I am immensely grateful for the many hours of work
ACB members provide to support us, to the benefit of the
professions and those whom we serve. In particular,
I would like to convey my thanks to Council and Executive
members, and those who serve on our various committees
and working groups. As laboratory services come under
increasing pressure, it has become more challenging for
individuals to find the time to take on ACB roles.
Most of those who have served in ACB leadership roles
will attest to the personal and professional satisfaction —
I would encourage anyone who is interested in such a role
to discuss it with their regional chair, or alternatively with
any of the members of Executive. We would be very keen
to hear from you, and to find an appropriate opportunity
as soon as possible!
The changing demographics of the ACB membership are
very much in our mind, and we are committed to an
equality and diversity programme which will ensure that
the leadership and awards of the Association reflect our
overall membership. A diverse pool of ACB members who
are interested in leadership positions is critical to us
achieving success in this area.

In this context, it would be remiss of me not to note the
major contributions of ACB members who stepped down
from leadership positions during this year, including
Frances Boa, Director of Education, Training & Workforce;
William Marshall, Director Finance and Annette Thomas,
Chair of the National Audit Group. In particular,
Gwyn McCreanor was a fantastic ACB President and also a
huge help to me during the past year.
Finally, I would like to note those ACB members who have
passed away during this year. They will be known to many
of you reading this report, and it is appropriate that we
remember them:
Dr William C Alston (Retired)
Prof Barbara H Billing (Emeritus)
Dr David G Campbell (Retired)
Dr Jane Dalley (Ordinary)
Dr Ian Hunter (Retired)
Dr Bridget C Jackson (Retired)
Dr Arthur Leslie Miller (Emeritus)
Mrs Barbara Morrison (Retired)
Prof John G Ratcliffe (Retired)
Mr Peter Scott (Emeritus)
Dr Daniel Simpson (Retired)
Dr Geoffrey Walker (Emeritus)

Prof Ian Young
President

4 Association Awards

Association
Awards

5Foundation Award Dr William Bartlett

5Flynn Lecture

Dr Suzy Lishman

5ACB Medal Award
Dr Rebecca Stead

Association Awards 5

5Transatlantic Lecture Prof Mike Bennett

5President’s Shield Dr Edmund Lamb

6 Education Committee

The Education, Training and Workforce (ETW) Committee
welcomed a new director and deputy this year. Frances Boa
stepped down after serving many years on the committee as
a regional tutor, deputy director and then director. The
committee would like to thank Frances for her dedication
and hard work over the years.
The committee has organised a number of training events
for ACB members as well as supporting the National School
of Healthcare Science (NSHCS) during the Scientist Training
Programme (STP) and Higher Specialist Scientific Training
programme (HSST) recruitment rounds and the objective
structured final assessments (OSFAs).
We organised a training day to precede the national Focus
meeting held in Leeds, with 64 attendees. The morning
session was a mock objective structured practical, which
gave the trainees an insight into what will be expected for
the FRCPath examination. The afternoon session was run by
the Supra-Regional Assay Service. It was an excellent
teaching session exposing trainees to protein, endocrine and
porphyria case histories. Thank you to Jo Sheldon, Sophie
Barnes, Mike Badminton and Julian Barth for delivering the
session.
The committee has appointed a new ACB workforce lead
and deputy, Charles Van Heyningen and Jonathan Scargill
respectively. The workforce team have been working closely
with the ACB office and the equality, diversity and inclusion
team to gain accurate workforce data to help raise
awareness of shortfalls in recruitment and improve
representation within the association.

The recipients will be writing articles for the ACB News.
We have now launched a new clinical biochemistry
pre-registration log book to assist laboratories that would
like to train their own registered clinical scientists by using
the equivalence process. This document can be found on
the ACB website and has the support of the Association of
Clinical Scientists for its use.
The committee plans for 2018 include a review of specialist
paediatric training in conjunction with the NSHCS, working
with the Royal College of Pathologists to improve support to
our medical trainees, performing a gap analysis of what
training the committee needs to offer to ensure the
FRCPath syllabus is covered, exploring online training tools
and engaging with the Immunology and Microbiology
Professional Committees to ensure that we support their
training requirements.
The committee has had a very successful 2017 and this is
due to the hard work of its members who manage to
combine their ACB roles alongside their day-to-day
responsibilities. I would like to thank every member of the
ETW team for their support and look forward to developing
the committee and the training offered throughout 2018.

Director: Mrs Hazel Borthwick
Deputy Director: Miss Katie Hadfield

The Education Committee had the pleasure of awarding
travel bursaries to the following members of the association
during 2017:
ACB Member

Discipline

Meeting

Rob Shorten

Microbiology

Infections during pregnancy

Sharon Colyer

Biochemistry

Society for the Study of Inborn Errors of Metabolism

Sasala Wickramasinghe

Biochemistry

Focus 2017

Sean Costello

Biochemistry

EuroMedLab

Nicola Seaward

Biochemistry

ACB Management training course

Sarah Pitkin

Biochemistry

ACB Management training course

Victoria Clough

Biochemistry

ACB Management training course

Abigail Clark

Biochemistry

International Congress of Paediatric Laboratory Medicine

Rachel Wheeler

Immunology

Annual Congress of the British Society for Immunology

Gemma Clark

Microbiology

Wellcome Trust advanced course: Genomics

Education Committee
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ACB Scholarships
The ACB scientific scholarships scheme continued in 2017
and once again demonstrated that the ACB’s membership is
providing laboratory leadership to drive important clinical
research. The scheme continued with the peer review
process that worked so well in 2016. After anonymous peerreview, the 2017 applications were also assessed by the
Scientific Committee members. Four projects were fully
funded out of nine applications, and a total in excess of
£26,000 was awarded. It was unfortunate that we did not
receive any applications from immunology members this
year. The process of review, quality assurance and fairness
could not have been maintained without the input of the
anonymous peer reviewers, and the Scientific Committee is
indebted to each and every one of them. We thank them for
their vital contributions. Once again I wish to thank all
scientific committee members who have contributed
significantly to the rigorous process, co-ordinated by
Alexandra Yates. In particular, Owen Driskell, Steve Holding,
Victoria Miari, Dimitris Grammatopoulos, David Gaze and
William Finch have all provided valuable scientific insight
from diverse laboratory backgrounds and subspecialties of
laboratory medicine. Special thanks are also due to all ACB
members who have applied for a scholarship or have
supported applicants.
Membership
The Scientific Committee has three new members
representing immunology, microbiology and the National
Clinical Biochemistry Audit Group:
Dr Steve Holding PhD FRCPath
Steve Holding is Consultant Clinical
Scientist in immunology and research
and development lead for pathology at
Hull and East Yorkshire Hospitals,
having previously held biomedical
scientist roles in both haematology
and biochemistry. He has a particular
interest in how we use our pathology
databases to improve patient
outcomes and promotes this through
collaboration with a range of specialities and groups. Other
research interests include vasculitis, autoimmunity and
strategies to reduce diagnostic delay, especially in
immunodeficiency.
Ms Victoria Miari BSc MSc PgDip
Victoria Miari is a Clinical
Microbiologist, currently based at
the London School of Hygiene &
Tropical Medicine (LSHTM). She
undertook her training at the Royal
Free Hospital during which she
developed an interest in sexually
transmitted infections. She is
currently carrying out research on
antimicrobial resistance in Neisseria

gonorrhoeae, looking at novel ways to identify and control
transmission. A recent paper has been featured in The
Guardian and general media. At LSHTM she teaches clinical
microbiology and diagnostics on several MSc modules. She is
also an examiner and station writer for the objective
structured final assessments and interim meetings secretary
for the ACB Microbiology Professional Committee.
Dr WS Wassif MB ChB MSc CSci
EuSpLM MD FRCPath FRCP
As a junior doctor, Wassif Wassif
undertook his higher medical training
in clinical biochemistry at Leicester
Royal Infirmary and King’s College
Hospital, London. He subsequently
returned to King’s College Hospital as
a senior registrar/honorary lecturer.
He went on to gain his Master’s
degree and MD from London University. He joined Bedford
Hospital NHS Trust in June 2000 as Consultant and Head of
Department of Clinical Biochemistry and Metabolic
Medicine. His special interests include all aspects of
metabolic medicine, primarily dyslipidaemia, parenteral
nutrition, porphyria and familial hypercalcaemia both at the
clinical and the molecular levels.
Bioinformatics
The Scientific Committee recognises that data management
and utilisation will become increasingly influential in
healthcare. With this in mind we organised a Bioinformatics
Spotlight meeting in June 2017. The committee would like
to thank all the staff at the ACB office, and in particular
Cheryl Taylor and Ashley Shalloe, for their help organising
this stimulating and informative meeting.
Twitter
We have found that Twitter is a dynamic and effective way
to interact with colleagues and the wider community alike,
and one of our goals for the coming year is to develop its
reach and impact. The Scientific Committee Twitter handle
is @SciCom_odo. To illustrate the sort of interactions we get
through Twitter, here is a 28 day summary of Twitter activity
for December 2017/January 2018 (with change over the
previous period):
Tweets 20 (up 100% on previous 28 day period)
Tweet impressions 4,906 (171%)
Profile visits 218 (20%)
Followers 309 (12)
The Clinical Sciences Review Committee
The Clinical Sciences Reviews Committee (CSRC) is a
sub-committee of the Scientific Committee responsible for
the commissioning of reviews, commentaries, personal
views or point and counterpoint arguments on any aspect of
clinical biochemistry and laboratory medicine. These are
normally published in the house journal, The Annals of
Clinical Biochemistry, International Journal of Laboratory

Scientific Committee
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Project
Number

Author(s)

Title

Published

14-09

C Wei, N Davis, J Honour,
E Crowne

Investigation of children/adolescents with abnormalities
of pubertal timing

Jan 2017

15-15

C Meek

Natural selection? The evolution of diagnostic criteria for
gestational diabetes

Jan 2017

15-22

YY Peng, J Uprichard

Ferritin and iron binding studies in anaemia and
chronic disease

Jan 2017

13-02

N El-Farhan DA Rees,
C Evans

Measuring cortisol in serum, urine and saliva – are our
assays good enough?

May 2017

14-03

A Karim

Experience with newer nervous system autoantibodies

Submitted

13-06

J Honour

Biochemistry of the menopause

Submitted

14-13

A Davison, S Shore

Investigation of phaeochromocytoma

Submitted

16-09

D Arnold, N Maskell

Mesothelioma

Submitted

Medicine or other journals as appropriate. The chair of
CSRC is a member of the Scientific Committee and reports
to it. The Scientific Committee ensures that CSRC fulfils its
objectives to a high standard.
A number of reviews commissioned by CSRC have been
published to date. In addition, those completed and
submitted to the editorial board for consideration are given
in the table above.
There are a further 21 commissioned reviews and 22
proposals under consideration.
Clinical liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry
special interest group
The Clinical LC-MS subgroup, chaired by Laura Owen,
is undergoing a period of reflection on its future shape and
is considering possible partnerships with other organisations
that have similar goals.
Preanalytics subgroup
The group has had significant input into the soon to be
published European Federation of Clinical Chemistry and
Laboratory Medicine venous sampling guidelines, and the
Scientific Committee has responded to the consultation for
the document. A national audit on preanalytical sample
quality was also performed and the group is preparing a
manuscript on the topic for publication as a CSRC sponsored
review.
The ACB National Clinical Biochemistry Audit Group
(NCBAG)
Annette Thomas stood down after seven years in the NCBAG
chair. The annual report is an opportunity for the Scientific
Committee to place on record our enormous gratitude for

Annette’s contribution over the years, both to NCBAG and as
a member of the Scientific Committee, and to wish her all
the very best for the future. Her wisdom, enthusiasm and
gentle humour will be sorely missed. The Scientific
Committee is looking forward to working with her successor,
Wassif Wassif.
This year, the NCBAG held a one day meeting on 8th
September in Birmingham, which included the results and
recommendations from this year’s national audits, scientific
and clinical updates from subject matter experts in these
areas and selected local audits.The national audits
presented at the meeting are listed in the table below.
The regional audit groups in Thames, Northern Ireland,
Wales, Scotland, and the North West have continued to
provide excellent audits over the year.
The National Audit Group also facilitated the following:
Survey on extra-analytical activities of laboratories to
support better clinical utilisation of laboratory tests in
patient care in collaboration with the Joint Working
Group for post-analytical phase (WG_POST) of the
European Federation of Clinical Chemistry & Laboratory
Medicine (EFLM) and the European Organisation for
External Quality Assurance Providers in Laboratory
Medicine (EQALM).
Survey on the value of current clinical laboratory
verification organised by the Sidra Medical and Research
Center, Doha, Qatar.

Director: Dr Christopher Chaloner
Deputy Director: Mrs Alexandra Yates

Audit topic

Audit lead

Date

National audit of contaminated samples

J Logie, Wishaw

January 2017

National survey of laboratory use of
calprotectin

N Hunt, Preston

March 2017

National audit of the laboratory
investigation of adult hyponatraemia

P West, London

July 2017
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Publications have continued to appear during 2017 and
provide an invaluable resource to the membership and
beyond. The production of these educational resources is
wholly dependent on substantial contributions from
members within each of the committees that comprise the
publications arm of the ACB. The ACB website continues to
expand with timely support from the ACB office. During
2017 we have seen further development of the ACB app,
which incorporates many features including meetings such
as Focus, the ACB News and Lab Tests Online.
The President’s Twitter page has been enjoyed by members
and our current President continues to use this feed.
The Twitter page and the President’s bulletin highlight key
areas of interest to members. Work continues to explore
other ways of communication with the membership.
ACB News
As noted last year, ACB News is now published every other
month (alternating with the Annals). Ian Hanning has taken
on the role of Lead Editor, working with Associate Editors
Gina Frederick, Sophie Barnes and Derren Ready
(Microbiology). Other members of the team are Nikki
Williams and Sue Ojakowa, together with the ACB office
staff and the Director of Publications and Communications.
Some of our more astute readers will have noticed a
decrease in the size of ACB News, which has allowed us to
benefit from a small reduction in postal costs (but no
change to the quality of the publication or the content).
In October we announced the following: ‘On Friday 8th
September the ACB Office advised us that NHS Improvement
has just written to NHS Acute Trust Chief Executives in
England outlining proposals to establish and implement
29 pathology networks to deliver services for the whole of
England’. Discussions continue to various extents in
different areas of England.
In the last year we have looked in particular at the
introduction of NICE Guidance DG-30 and the reincarnation
of FOB (Faecal Occult Blood) testing as FIT (Faecal
Immunochemical Test).
Plans for 2018 include the appointment of two new
associate editors, the introduction of book reviews and
Journal Watch (previously in the Annals) and better
communication with the ACB meetings organisers so that we
get the full flavour of Focus and FiLM.
The ACB News is a fantastic vehicle to promote scientific
meetings and also to report about them afterwards;
however, this relies on the participation of readers and
ACB Members.
Annals of Clinical Biochemistry
The Annals provides an outlet for scientific publishing to
ACB members and beyond. Journal metrics remain healthy:

the impact factor for 2016 was 2.024. This is the fourth
successive year where it has stayed above 2.00. However,
the field is extremely competitive, and our ranking has
slipped from 11/30 to 17/30. The editorial board has agreed
several measures to try to improve our position. Numbers of
submissions and acceptance rates have decreased since last
year but remain healthy.
The decision to open access to the Journal after 1−2 years
(i.e. current volume and previous volume remain subscriber
only) appears to have been vindicated, with online usage at
almost 290,000 during the past year. This will improve the
visibility and impact of the journal.
The new-look Annals cover, which had remained basically
unchanged since 2002, was launched with the January 2017
issue. It has been well received. This change coincided with
the replacement of Edmund Lamb as Editor-in-Chief by
Michael Murphy. Maurice O’Kane has replaced Michael as
Deputy Editor.
The links between the Annals and the Clinical Science
Reviews Committee have been strengthened with a view to
closer liaison and, in time, the publication in the Annals of
larger numbers of highly-cited reviews.
We continue to use iThenticate plagiarism software to check
the originality of all articles at submission. It requires
discretion and experience to use this tool properly, but
overall it has helped to improve the quality of the papers
published.
During the coming year we propose to increase the number
of associate editors by two, and to appoint a social media
editor. This new post recognises the increasingly important
role of social media in academic communication.
Lab Tests Online UK (LTO-UK)
The major achievement in 2017 was the launch of a
redesigned mobile friendly website in December. The format
and presentation of the website have changed significantly,
improving navigation and ease of use. Hit rate has been
stable throughout 2017 at around 200,000 visitors per month
with a grand total of 2,848,450 for the year. The majority of
visits are directed from search engines, comprising 66% of
the total; other sites such as NHS Choices that refer traffic
to LTO-UK comprise 23%, with 11% coming from direct hits.
Provision of accurate, up to date information on laboratory
tests to support patients with electronic access to their
medical records and to improve their understanding of
laboratory tests, allowing them to have a meaningful
dialogue with their healthcare professional, continues to be
the key focus for LTO-UK.
Ongoing surveys show that the majority of website visitors
find what they are looking for and find the information on

Publications Committee
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the website easy to understand: this will be monitored
carefully over the next year, given the significant changes to
the site since the redesign.
The LTO app has had 23,294 downloads since its launch in
June 2013. However, with a new mobile friendly design,
we plan to discontinue supporting the app at the end of
February 2018. We have reviewed the use of the app and
although downloads have been steady, active user numbers
are not significant and therefore focus will return to
promotion of the main site.
The following GP systems currently have or are developing
integrated links to LTO-UK: TPP (SystmOne), HealthFabric,
iSOFT, OMNI lab, INPS, Microtest, DrDoctor, i-Patient and
Manage your health (app). In addition, we continue to
promote LTO-UK via NHS Choices, ULCH OCS, the Welsh
National Order Communications Project and Choosing
Wisely UK (in process).
LTO-UK is to remain non-commercial and we are grateful for
continuing funding from the ACB, the Institute of Biomedical
Science and the Royal College of Pathologists.
The LTO-UK board actively engage with the public and
healthcare professionals to promote the website and
members have attended a number of events throughout the
year including: British Society for Haematology Annual
Scientific Meeting in Brighton, ACB Focus in Leeds, Annual
Conference for the National Association of Patient
Participation in Basingstoke, IBMS Congress in Birmingham
and National Pathology Week events in London. Feedback
has been overwhelmingly positive, with invaluable
promotion of LTO-UK to the public, healthcare professionals
and relevant health organisations. A good example of this
engagement is collaboration with the British Society for
Haematology, who provided LTO-UK with a free conference
stand and promotion at their annual meeting in Brighton
(usually £5k plus VAT).
LTO-UK was featured in a range of public and professional
articles throughout the year including: The Mirror; The
Medical Independent; ACB News; Leukaemia Care (printed
and online magazine) and the Practice Managers Association
online newsletter. The September 2017 edition of ‘Which?’
member's magazine featured the article ‘Help your GP to
help you’ providing the reader with an insight into how to
make best use of time during a GP appointment. The article

mentioned LTO-UK as one of only five trusted websites
recommended by GPs.
The LTO-UK board monitors the progress of the website and
will continue to:
• increase links with other public facing websites,
e.g. national health-related charities
• work with suppliers of GP and other patient record
systems to further integrate LTO-UK
• engage with patient-facing applications
• promote the website to the public and to healthcare
professionals.
Venture Publications
This year has seen the publication
of our 24th book, entitled
Neonatology and Laboratory
Medicine, written by Sarah Heap,
Jim Gray and Andrew Ewer.
This third edition has been
updated to ensure its continued
relevance, especially given the
many important changes in
laboratory and clinical practice,
with the development of both
neonatal and laboratory networks
in the UK. The final book, a new
edition of Liver Disease and Laboratory Medicine will follow.
Sincere thanks are due to our team of editors and other
committee members who, despite the difficulties
encountered in bringing books to publication, continue to
show admirable enthusiasm and commitment to the various
projects. As previously indicated, the committee and ACB
Executive have decided that VP should not actively
commission any further books, although we will consider
any proposals received from members who are considering
writing a book.
I would like to thank again the team in the ACB office for
their continued support, Ian Hanning (ACB News), Danielle
Freedman (LTO-UK), Michael Murphy (Annals of Clinical
Biochemistry) and all colleagues who support the functions
of each of the committees.

Director of Publications & Communications:
Mr Paul Newland
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The Trainees’ Committee has continued to grow over the
last year and several posts that had remained vacant for
some time have been filled. The committee would like to
thank previous members for their hard work and to
congratulate Katie Hadfield, the previous Vice Chair of the
committee, who has taken up the role of deputy director of
the Education, Training and Workforce Committee.

and was free for all ACB members to attend. We would like
to thank the office for accommodating the event and
sponsoring ACB members’ attendance. The meeting was a
success, helping STP trainees to discover the scope of
elective placements, how to plan and prepare their
electives and how to meet the training requirements of this
aspect of the STP programme.

The Trainees’ Committee feeds back on the progress of
trainees through their careers and various training
programmes to the RCPath Specialist Advisory Committee
for Biochemistry, the RCPath Trainees’ Advisory Committee
and ACB Council and Education Committee. Representation
of trainees on the Scientist Training Programme (STP) and
Higher Specialist Scientist Training (HSST) programmes
allows the committee to highlight significant issues to
members of the profession who determine the structure and
content of training and examinations. This is especially
important as the ACB promotes the ‘grow your own trainee’
route as an alternative to STP training programmes.
Feedback from trainees via the committee also affects
FRCPath examinations and the content and location of
ACB training courses, such as the mock part 2 examination
at Focus in Leeds 2017.

Communications
The Trainees’ Committee regularly reviews guidance and
information available on the Trainees’ section of the
website. This includes examples of elective projects
completed by former STP trainees, links to the IFCC
eAcademy and information on training courses and trainees’
events such as the electives presentation day. The National
Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guideline
summaries section continues to grow and this year will be
expanded to include guideline summaries from other
sources, such as the British Thyroid Association and the
Endocrine Society. Trainees are encouraged to write
summaries as well as analyte monographs for publication on
the ACB website. Summaries of National Pathology Week
and STEM (science, technology, engineering and
mathematics) activities undertaken by trainees can be
added to the trainees’ page. The committee is also helping
to develop and increase the use of the ACB app by
suggesting additional content and posting push
notifications, not only for Focus conferences.

Public engagement and trainees’ activities
The trainees’ page of the ACB website is updated with
reports of activities during National Pathology Week.
It shows the range of activities undertaken to raise
awareness of the profession and to demonstrate the
importance of pathology to members of the public. Once
again, the Trainees’ Committee had a presence at the
national STP induction day at Aston Villa football ground in
September. Representatives of the committee promoted the
ACB and the benefits of membership to the new cohort of
trainees in biochemistry, microbiology and immunology.
We have also approached STP trainees in haematology
training posts to encourage them to join the ACB. The
annual STP elective event, organised by members of the
committee, was again hosted by the ACB office in December

Future training issues
A big challenge facing many laboratories in England is the
proposed NHS Improvement pathology networks. This is
likely to have numerous implications for trainees and future
training. The Trainees’ Committee is determined to
contribute to all ACB activity relating to pathology networks
so that trainees’ perspectives are considered and future
training opportunities and experiences are available.

Chair: Mr James Pethick
Vice Chair: Miss Lauren Hughes

Delegates participating in the Focus 2017 Training Day at the Royal Armouries, Leeds

Trainees’ Committee
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The Clinical Practice Section (CPS) groups together
medically qualified pathologists and clinical scientists
within the ACB who have specific interests in aspects of
biochemistry or laboratory medicine with direct application
to routine clinical practice. Its work covers a range of
educational activities, guideline and best practice
development, contributions to national guideline bodies and
biochemistry and laboratory medicine. We therefore work
closely with other ACB committees, in particular the
Scientific Affairs and Education Committees. The CPS
committee meets quarterly by teleconference. The CPS is
currently considering how it can develop most effectively to
meet the needs of the membership.

There are numerous clinical guidelines in use for
magnesium replacement, which differ significantly in
the suggested dose and replacement rate of
administered magnesium. This working group has
undertaken a literature review to identify the evidence
base for magnesium replacement regimens and will
develop evidence based best practice guidelines.

The Clinical Practice Section has three active working groups:

3. Adjusted calcium systematic review and best
practice guidelines
The Clinical Practice Section has previously developed
interim guidance on this topic. A systematic literature
review is underway to inform more definitive best
practice guidance. This has taken longer than anticipated
but we hope that it will be completed in 2018.

1. Reflexive and reflective testing
Reflexive and reflective testing has long been considered
a core function of a good diagnostic laboratory whereby
pathologists and clinical scientists, in response to a set
of abnormal test results, add further tests to those
originally requested by the referring clinician to
expedite diagnosis and management. In some cases
reflective testing may raise ethical issues. For example,
should the laboratory undertake serum protein
electrophoresis in a patient with an elevated total
protein concentration in the absence of prior
discussion with the requesting clinician and patient?
The aims of this working group are three-fold: first to
undertake a survey to establish current practice in UK
laboratories; second to identify evidence that reflective
testing contributes to improved patient outcomes and
third to develop best practice guidelines for laboratories
for when and how reflex and reflective testing should be
undertaken. A baseline survey was undertaken in 2017 to
define current practice.

Big data workshop
Big data analysis plays an increasing role in health care
research and one which is of particular relevance to
laboratory medicine. A big data workshop was organised in
the ACB offices in Tooley Street in November. The purpose
of the workshop was to develop big data analytical skills
within the ACB membership and to stimulate work in this
area. The morning session featured examples of the type of
big data projects that might be undertaken in laboratory
medicine, with an overview of the range of data analytical
skills required. The afternoon small group sessions
identified a number of projects to be taken forward by
attendees at the workshop. These included the use of big
data in reference interval determination, assessing
glycated haemoglobin as a diagnostic test in hospital
inpatients, determining outcomes in community acute
kidney injury, laboratory demand optimisation and assessing
clinical outcomes. We propose to hold a follow up meeting
in 2018 to review the outcome of these projects.

2. Evidence based magnesium replacement guidelines
Magnesium deficiency is a common clinical problem.

Director of Clinical Practice:
Dr Maurice O’Kane

Members contemplating 'Big Data' at the workshop in November

Clinical Practice Section
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Microbiology as a speciality continues to be in a state of
flux. Financial cuts and organisational restructuring have
resulted in varying degrees of disruption. Members have
seen demands on their time continually increasing.
The restructuring of many NHS laboratories and the setting
up of Public Health England’s (PHE) National Infection
Service have led to periods of uncertainty and upheaval for
many. The on-going disparity in pay scales between NHS and
PHE staff continues to cause recruitment issues. Core
infection training has added another layer of complexity to
the training of our medical colleagues, causing issues with
recruitment. The FRCPath Part 2 examination has been
changed to accommodate this. We are delighted that one of
our council members, Dr Rob Shorten, passed the new
format exam at both his and its first outing.
The Scientist Training Program (STP) is well established with
a range of district general and teaching hospital
laboratories hosting, supporting and providing STP training.
One difficultly the trainees continue to face, is the lack of
alternative provision for the infection MSc. With only a
single provider (Queen Mary University of London) offering
this key taught component, travelling and attendance can
be challenging for trainees outside the London area. During
the year, there was a further increase in the number of ACB
members helping with the delivery of objective structured
final assessment questions or supporting the process as an
assessor, leading to the development of several new stations
for the 2017 exams. We have completed a gap analysis of
the current bank of questions, and have now identified
several new topics for exam questions which will need to be
developed over the coming years. This demanding piece of
work is being led by Dr Derren Ready.
There is now a regular and much welcomed microbiology
article in the ACB News written by Dr Matthew Diggle, the
Diggle Challenge. Give it a try and see how you get on!
Several members continue to be involved in the STP
equivalence process and have been undertaking assessments
and training. There can never be enough assessors and
anyone who is interested in getting involved is encouraged

to contact us and the National School of Healthcare Science
(NSHCS) for details.
We have continued to represent microbiology within the
ACB at various internal committees including the Trainees’
Committee, Federation of Clinical Scientists, Scientific
Committee, Education, Training and Workforce Committee
and by commenting on NICE guidance and laboratory
standards.
We have also represented the ACB at the Royal College of
Pathologists on the Specialty Advisory Committee, the
Trainees Advisory Committee and the Clinical Sciences
Committee for both microbiology and virology. There is
regular attendance at the NSHCS Life sciences board and
engagement with the Academy for Healthcare Science.
The ACB Microbiology Professional group held their annual
microbiology meeting on 24th November 2017 at Public
Health England, Colindale. The meeting was entitled ‘Out of
the Ordinary; Above Ordinary’ and focussed on the clinical
and professional development of clinical scientists,
particularly trainees. The morning consisted of a number of
interesting and unusual clinical case presentations from
across the UK. The afternoon focussed on career progression
and best practice in clinical science, with presentations on
sources of funding and the application process, an update
on the Higher Specialist Scientist Training programme,
leadership in the NHS and public engagement in science.
The meeting was attended by 41 delegates, including
clinical scientists and STP trainees, biomedical scientists,
healthcare scientists and clinicians. The meeting generated
good discussion, especially around careers for newly
qualified STPs and leadership opportunities for clinical
scientists.
We continue to be committed to representing your views as
clinical scientists in microbiology and virology. If you wish to
get involved in any way, no matter how small, please do get
in touch and join us!

Chair: Dr Kirsty Dodgson
Secretary: Dr Moira Kaye

Microbiology Professional Committee
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14 Immunology Professional Committee

After a quiet year, the Immunology Professional Committee
(IPC) has recently appointed two new co-chairs, Elizabeth
Bateman and Lisa Ayers. This has led to a reinvigoration of
the IPC. We are currently restructuring the committee and
seeking people to fulfil the roles within that committee
structure.
The clinical scientist workforce continues to grow within
immunology and has resulted in a number of appointments
of new consultant clinical scientists.

required by the college, especially from the clinical
scientist cohort, and recruitment and training of these
examiners will be a focus in the coming year. Potential
change to the FRCPath examination is a key area of interest
for the IPC, as is the route of equivalence opening up for
both clinical scientist registration and admission to the
Academy for Healthcare Science (AHCS) register.

This has again been a satisfactory year for clinical scientist
training, with stable numbers and successful progress
through training. The number of people able to assess the
objective structured final examinations has increased.

Goals for 2018
Goals for the coming year include establishing a full IPC
committee, agreeing our terms of reference, increasing
engagement with the ACB, establishing an annual training
support and assessment day for the immunology trainees on
the Scientist Training Programme and increasing immunology
engagement with the British Society of Immunology.

Training for the FRCPath examination has also been
successful with good pass rates. More examiners are

Co-Chairs:
Dr Elizabeth Bateman and Dr Lisa Ayers

Immunology Professional Committee
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After eleven years of working with Meeting Makers to
organise the three day Focus National Meeting, the ACB took
the brave decision to move to a new model for the 2017
event. It was organised predominantly by the ACB office,
with the help of staff from the Biochemical Society and the
format changed to a two day meeting. The venue was the
Royal Armouries in Leeds and Steve Goodall chaired a small
enthusiastic local organising committee based in the area.
Carys Lippiatt helped Steve with the organisation and
Julian Barth chaired the scientific programme committee.
The Focus meeting app, which had been developed for last
year’s meeting in Warwick, was modified to become the
ACB app and this was again the key mechanism for
publicising the meeting, as well as being an online
repository for the programme and abstracts. The model
proved extremely popular, both with delegates and
exhibitors, allowing more people to attend owing to lower
cost and shorter absence from work. A similar strategy will
be used for Focus 2018 in Manchester.
The Frontiers in Laboratory Medicine (FiLM) meeting
continues to be one of the most popular dedicated
laboratory management and innovation meetings within the
UK. The 2017 meeting was held in Birmingham, and was
again organised in conjunction with Robert Michel,
Editor-in-Chief of the Dark Report, with the UK organising

committee led by Dr David Clark. Dr Clark continued to
engage with all the laboratory specialties to make the
FiLM meeting a truly cross-disciplinary event.
Highlights from the 2017 meeting included a panel
discussion on how to maximise the value of diagnostics.
The ACB regions once again hosted a number of local
meetings, with individual one and two day events covering
a huge range of topics.
I indicated in my last annual report that I was due to step
down from my role at the May 2017 AGM. Unfortunately no
immediate successor was identified so I continued to chair
the group in an interim advisory capacity but look forward
to handing over to Sarah Robinson in 2018. Thanks are due
to Kathryn Brownbill as secretary of the committee and the
ACB office staff for their ongoing support and enthusiasm in
taking on the organisation of Focus. I would also like to
thank all the Focus local organising teams, Meeting Makers
and the ACB corporate members for their continued
involvement in meetings throughout the year — without
their financial support and influence we would not be able
to host these events.

Chair (interim): Dr Ian Godber
Secretary: Dr Kathryn Brownbill

National Meetings Committee
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16 Federation of Clinical Scientists

The Federation of Clinical Scientists (FCS) has cooperated
with other union colleagues and has held discussions with a
range of bodies to put forward our members’ views. This has
included joint responses to consultations and joint working
with other unions on many subjects.
This year, Agenda for Change (AfC) staff benefitted from a
small pay rise; however, this was below the level of inflation
and NHS staff have seen the value of their pay fall over
successive years. It is hoped that there will be a bigger
increase in pay in the coming year but this will be tied to
changes to the AfC terms and conditions. FCS is involved
with NHS pensions and continues to work to ensure that
members are kept up to date with the latest information.
To this end, a couple of briefings have been produced to
inform members of their rights around ‘retire and return’.
The regional representatives in the devolved
administrations have continued their work with the regional
governments, feeding into consultations and negotiations.
FCS has been heavily involved in continued negotiations
with Public Health England (PHE) around the transfer of
services to a new site. There has also been continued input
into the negotiations around transfer of PHE pensions.
Both local and regional FCS representatives have been
involved in casework, giving advice to members and
supporting them when they are having difficulties. Some of
these cases have been protracted, continuing over months
and occasionally years and credit should be given to our
representatives who pursue them over such extended time
periods.

During the year we organised several training sessions for
our regional and local representatives, with short
interactive teleconference training proving to be a great
success. This allows individuals to participate in training on
a particular topic without having to be away from their
base. A full day training session on the subject of
organisational change was also held and was well received.
In an attempt to recruit more members, we have utilised
the talent of our trainee representatives to showcase our
work at the federation and demonstrate how we can help
with employment problems. FCS relies on its local and
regional representatives to carry out its work and provide
information to its members locally. We are very grateful to
those who find time in their busy schedules to support FCS
and its work. However, there are gaps in the network of
representatives and, where these exist, we would
encourage members to take on these roles.
We would like to thank the ACB office staff for all their
help and support during the year; it makes the lives of the
officers much easier and allows us to fulfil our roles.
We would also like to thank our Charted Society of
Physiotherapy industrial relations representative,
Jess Belmonte, for her help and invaluable advice.

Director of Regulatory Affairs/FCS Chair:
Dr Andrew Taylor
Deputy Director of Regulatory Affairs/FCS Secretary:
Dr Emma Lewis

Federation of Clinical Scientists
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The Corporate Members’ Committee continues to bring the
industry perspective to subjects under discussion by the
ACB and highlights issues of concern to both parties.
The impact of the MedTech Europe Code of Ethical Business
Practice was discussed at the Corporate Members AGM on
the 16th October 2017 and resulted in registration of
Focus 2018 on the MedTech Europe conference vetting
system.
Conferences
Focus 2017 Royal Armouries, Leeds
The Focus 2016 sponsorship model was retained for 2017
and resulted in a good variety of corporate members
exhibiting. The ‘two day’ model of Focus 2017 was well
received by corporate members and it was noted that the
layout of the exhibition and proximity to lectures fostered
good engagement. Delegates registered and flowed into the
large open exhibition space. The two lecture theatres were
accessed from the exhibition hall which was also configured
for industry-sponsored workshops.
Focus 2018 Manchester Metropolitan University
Following the success of Focus in Leeds, the two-day
format and City centre location remains for Focus 2018.

The corporate member’s exhibition will be of similar size to
that at the Leeds meeting. All exhibition spaces for
Focus 2018 were taken shortly after release of the
sponsorship packages, showing increased demand from
corporate members.
Management and Leadership Training Course
ACB Corporate Members once again contributed their
expertise at the ACB Management & Leadership Course
held in July 2017. Topics to which they contributed
included tendering and managed service contracts.
The workshop highlighted the key considerations for a
high quality and cost efficient tender process that meets
the required targets.
Committee
Ross Reynolds is Chair of the ACB Corporate Members’
Committee. Leanne Westgate is Vice Chair and Mark Weaver
moves to Past Chair. Ross Reynolds will continue as Chair
until the AGM and nominations for the post are being
sought. The Committee would welcome nominations for
new members.

Chair: Mr Ross Reynolds
Vice Chair: Miss Leanne Westgate

Corporate Members’ Committee
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North West Region
In the past year, the North West has
held three regional meetings (including
a joint meeting with the Wales Region).
Our first scientific meeting was the
Ian Ward members’ papers meeting
held at Salford Royal Hospital, where
seven members presented their
research projects or case studies.
The first prize was awarded to
Helen Beeston for her presentation
on high resolution accurate mass
spectrometry-mass spectrometry
to aid the investigation of female
hyperandrogenism. The runner-up was
Lewis Green for his presentation on the
implementation of a clinical decision
support tool to reduce inappropriate
requests for genetic thrombophilia
screening. Our sponsor for this meeting
was Sterilab Services.
In June, we held a joint summer
scientific meeting with the Wales
Region at Chester Racecourse. It was a
great venue and an enjoyable day for
all those who attended. Speakers
invited by both regions presented on
point-of-care testing (POCT) in the
community, POCT C-reactive protein,
sepsis and the use of troponin decision
aids in patients presenting with chest
pain. Our four sponsors for this
meeting were Alere, the Binding Site,
Radiometer and Roche. ACB committee

The Ian Ward members’ papers runner-up Lewis Green, the Chair of the NW ACB Maureen
Leonard, and the Ian Ward members’ papers winner Helen Beeston

members from the North West and
Wales regions devoted a lot of time to
organising this successful joint
meeting.
Our last meeting of the year was the
annual North West regional audit
meeting in November at the Royal
Albert Edward Infirmary, Wigan.
Natalie Hunt presented the national

audit on faecal calprotectin. The North
West regional audit group met regularly
in 2017 and completed two regional
audits on tetracosactide tests and CSF
xanthochromia (service provision and
clinical utility). These audits were
presented by Catherine Collingwood
and Katherine Birch respectively.
A regional audit on coeliac testing has
also been started. At the meeting,

Attendees at the ACB North West and ACB Wales Joint Summer Scientific Meeting in Chester
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North West members presented a
number of local audits on a variety of
topics including the introduction of an
anaemia screen, estimated glomerular
filtration rate calculation using
CKD-EPI, prostate-specific antigen
concentration cut-offs and therapeutic
drug monitoring of antibiotics. Our
sponsor for this meeting was Randox.
Excellent feedback was given for all
regional meetings organised by the
committee during 2017 and all costs
were covered by sponsorship. We plan
to continue organising three meetings
each year.
Some changes to the committee were
confirmed at the annual general
meeting. The outgoing committee
members were thanked for their
contribution over the last few years.
We welcomed a new chair (Shirley
Bowles), a trainees’ and membership
representative (Joseph Taylor) and a
chemical pathology trainees’
representative (Andreas Tridimas).
Later in the year, we welcomed Natalie
Hunt as a new ordinary member on the
committee. The FCS representative
role for Greater Manchester and
Lancashire remains vacant despite
numerous calls for nominations across
the region. Three committee meetings
were held during 2017. At the AGM,
the committee agreed to start sending
a newsletter out to all regional
members to update them on current
activity within the North West ACB
Region.
Our trainee members are continuing to
progress well, including through the
FRCPath examinations. All third year
STPs in the region have been appointed
to band seven posts. Two new scientists
started their training in the region in
September. Trainees are organising
monthly regional teaching sessions for
those working towards FRCPath Part 1.
One travel grant was awarded by the
region this year to Zoie Aiken to attend
a scientific meeting in London on
anti-microbial resistance.
Northern Ireland Region
The ACB NI Region spring scientific
meeting was held on Friday 7th April
2017 in the Wellington Park Hotel,
Belfast. Professor Ian Young, ACB
President Elect and Chief Scientific
Officer for Northern Ireland used the
ACB’s strapline “Better science, Better
testing, Better care” for an excellent
keynote address to the meeting.

Dr Marta Lapsley, Mrs Margaret McDonnell and Professor Peter Maxwell

He focussed attention on the important
role laboratory scientists will continue
to have in an ever-evolving healthcare
service. Laboratory scientists must be
assertive in leading innovations and
working co-operatively with clinical
colleagues for patients’ best interests,
while being mindful of their duty to
prevent the widening of existing health
inequality.
Dr Johnny Cash, a Consultant
Hepatologist, presented his findings
from a pilot study aimed at reducing
unnecessary laboratory testing. With
continued engagement, it is hoped that
the tools developed as part of this
study will be rolled out elsewhere.
Mark Lynch spoke on reflex and
reflective testing, discussing both the
usefulness and potential pitfalls of such
testing. Marta Lapsley, gave an
overview of kidney stone pathology,
epidemiology and medical
management. Professor Peter Maxwell,
Nephrologist, discussed chronic kidney
disease. Dr Nigel Hart, GP and Senior
Clinical Lecturer, gave an insightful
presentation on quality improvement.
Delegates were reminded of the value
of inclusive organisational quality
improvement, driven from the bottom
up rather than enforced from the top
down. Dr Hart’s presentation also gave
examples of how quality improvement
models established in industry are
easily adaptable for use in a healthcare
setting.
Dr Hamish Courtney, Endocrinologist,
gave an excellent overview of
transgender endocrinology, while
Godfrey Gillett spoke about Wilson’s
disease, a rare autosomal recessive
disorder. Two complementary
presentations focussed on the topic of

drugs of abuse: Dr Michael Trimble,
Clinical Pharmacologist, explained the
magnitude and complexity of the
problem giving an overview of the
burgeoning range of drugs currently
available and Jenny Hamilton spoke
from a toxicology laboratory
perspective.
Our thanks go to ACB NI Region
meetings secretary, Kathryn Ryan for
her work in organising this successful
event.
The annual Northern Ireland RCPath
Symposium was held on 10th May 2017.
It is aimed at RCPath fellows,
members, trainees, medical students
and others interested in the range of
pathology specialties in Northern
Ireland. Delegates heard presentations
about emerging themes in the field of
pathology (point-of-care testing,
genomic pathology and digital
pathology) and some of the exciting
developments happening in Northern
Ireland. President, Dr Suzy Lishman,
and President Elect, Professor Jo
Martin, explained what the College
does in Northern Ireland. Trainees had
the opportunity to meet with the
President and discuss any relevant
matters.
The Regional Audit Group met in April
and November 2017. Guidelines have
been developed for outsourcing
referral tests and for add-on testing,
based on audits performed.
Cerebrospinal fluid xanthochromia
testing is being re-audited. Further
planned audits include pro-BNP
requesting and laboratory testing for
menopause based on recent NICE
guidelines. In addition, the group has
investigated the use of fluoride citrate
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organised events, including a meeting
on the biochemistry of nutrition and
one on biobanking.

Professor Ian Young, Mrs Margaret McDonnell and Dr Mark Lynch

sample tubes for glucose tolerance
testing, compared with current
fluoride oxalate tubes.
Membership of the ACB NI Region
Committee changed in April 2017.
We express our thanks to Margaret
McDonnell who has stepped down as
ACB NI regional chair after 3 years.
Elinor Hanna is the new chair and
Sumana Gidwani the Clinical Practice
Section representative. Gareth
McKeeman kindly undertook the duties
of secretary/treasurer to cover Gillian
Hamilton’s maternity leave. Kathryn
Ryan has taken a new role as chair of
RCPath Clinical Biochemistry Specialty
Advisory Committee. The NI Region
ACB chair was invited to be a member
of the Northern Ireland Pathology
Network.
A Health and Social Care (HSC)
Pathology demand optimisation
workshop was held on 16th November
2017. A short-life working group on
understanding and managing variation
in pathology services has been set up
to provide a shared understanding of
existing variation in HSC laboratories.
Consultation proposals for modernising
HSC Pathology services have been
submitted to the Department of
Health, NI, which is currently compiling
a regional workforce strategy. The NI
Pathology Network has developed a
response to this strategy.
Two trainees started their second year
of clinical scientist training and two
entered STP training in August 2017.
Funding has been secured for three
clinical scientist training posts in blood
sciences (genetics, haematology,
immunology and biochemistry) for the
next two years.

Republic of Ireland Region
The ACB regional scientific meeting
was held in January 2017 at
St Vincent’s University Hospital,
Dublin. The programme had two main
themes, networked pathology and
national screening (colorectal and
newborn), with speakers and delegates
from across Ireland and the UK.
Micheal Ryan (Senior Biochemist,
St John’s hospital, Limerick) provided
a meeting report for all to read in the
ACB News (June 2017).
Over the year, ACB members have
participated in a number of national
initiatives including the National
Cancer Control Programme, which
involves work on the harmonisation of
PSA, HCG and CA125 measurements,
the national laboratory information
management system project (MEDLIS)
and the Chemical Pathology Working
Group (Royal College of Physicians of
Ireland).
Members have contributed to national
and international organisations,
committees and events including the
Association of Clinical Biochemists in
Ireland (ACBI), Irish Endocrine Society,
Irish National Accreditation Board, Irish
External Quality Assurance, Irish
Molecular Diagnostics Network, Irish
Society of Human Genetics and various
clinical and scientific working groups
within the European Federation of
Laboratory Medicine. Regional ACB
members contributed to the
organisation of the ACBI annual
conference in November (Galway),
where topics included neuroendocrine
tumours, cell metabolism and
toxicology, with biochemical genetics
woven throughout the programme.
Members also contributed to other ACBI

Clinical biochemists preparing for
FRCPath examinations attended the
training programme provided by the
ACBI, involving tutorial sessions
organised and hosted by members in
locations across the entire region. One
candidate sat and passed the FRCPath
written examination in spring 2017 and
other candidates will be sitting exams
in spring and autumn 2018. Clinical
biochemist posts were advertised at
basic to principal level throughout the
region. A locum consultant clinical
biochemist (Dr Sean Costelloe) was
appointed to Cork University Hospital
and two chemical pathologists were
appointed in Beaumont University
Hospital (Dr Shari Srinivasan) and
Children’s University Hospital Temple
Street (Dr Ingrid Borovickova),
in Dublin. A new clinical biochemist/
chemical pathologist position was also
advertised recently in Temple Street
which is much welcomed given the
ongoing shortfall of consultant posts
throughout the region.
The region’s committee is organising an
annual scientific meeting on the 26th
January 2018 entitled ‘Data Overload’
which will include presentation and
discussion of tools and projects
involving data handling. One of the
topics will be ‘Data Protection ahead
of the General Data Protection
Regulation’, which comes into force on
the 25th May 2018. The programme will
also feature a topic on ethics in clinical
research and opportunities for
interactive discussion.
Dr Graham Lee stepped down from his
position of ROI regional chair and
thanked the region’s council and its
members for all their support and hard
work.
Scotland Region
For the Scotland Region, 2017 was
another busy and successful year.
We held two scientific meetings, both
of which were well attended. In the
spring, we held a one day meeting at
Wishaw General Hospital, with a focus
on the role of the laboratory in
diagnosing and monitoring liver
disease. In November, we held our
biennial two-day residential scientific
meeting in Norton House Hotel,
Edinburgh. Topics covered included
reproductive endocrinology, renal
biochemistry and a very popular
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workshop on introducing a new test to
the laboratory, led by Bernie Croal.
We were very pleased to welcome
Craig Webster to give the plenary
lecture on ‘Communication of
laboratory results’.
A highlight of the Norton House
meeting was the members’ papers
session, when trainee members had the
opportunity to compete for the John
King Award. This award was established
in 1980 in memory of the late Dr John
(Ian) King, who was Top Grade
Biochemist and Honorary Senior
Lecturer at Glasgow Royal Infirmary
until his death in 1978. We were
honoured this year to have Dr King’s
son and daughter-in-law, Chris and
Debbie, with us at the meeting. Chris
and Debbie kindly presented the award
to this year’s winner, Alana Burns of
Glasgow Royal Infirmary. Alana gave an
excellent talk addressing the question,
“How functional are functional
markers?” We were also pleased to
present Chris and Debbie with their
own replica John King Award trophy.
We took the opportunity at our
scientific meetings to bid farewell to a
number of our retiring members,
presenting them each with a small gift.
We marked the retirement of Ian Gunn,
Simon Walker and Philip Wenham at the
spring meeting and Neil McConnell at
the autumn one. We wish them all a
long and happy retirement.
There were some changes made to the
committee membership at our annual
general meeting in spring 2017.
Michael Murphy stepped down as Chair,

Dr Philip Wenham, Dr Simon Walker and Dr Ian Gunn appear pleased with their retirement
gifts, presented by Dr Michael Murphy (second from right) at the Spring 2017 Scientific
Meeting

and was thanked for his service in this
and his previous roles on the
committee. Kevin Deans was elected as
chair, being replaced as secretary by
Sarah Cleary, with Harriet Allison
moving into the role of meetings
secretary elect. We were also pleased
to welcome Jacqueline McGuire, Alana
Burns and Maria Squires to the
committee. Kim Heathcote and
Rebecca Pattenden completed their
terms on the committee, and we thank
them for their work in these roles.
As a committee, we thought it timely
to develop a strategic plan for the
region. Having agreed a draft plan,
we sought the views of all members of
the region. It is intended that the final
plan will be approved in spring 2018,
and will then be used to guide the

activities of the region. The plan
centres around three areas: ‘Engage,
evaluate and improve’ and covers areas
such as engagement with our members,
other specialties, healthcare
professions and the public, audit,
training, research and service
development.
A key component of our strategic plan
is maintenance of a programme of
audit activity. It is very encouraging
that under the leadership of James
Logie, the Audit Group maintains a
vigorous audit programme. During
2017, work on four Scotland-wide
audits (protein electrophoresis,
cerebrospinal fluid spectrophotometry,
liver function tests and specialist
endocrine tests) was taken forward.
Within Scotland, work towards a
distributed services model for delivery
of laboratory services continues.
The ACB is represented on the Scottish
Clinical Biochemistry Managed
Diagnostic Network and many of our
members are active in the various
groups that have been set up to plan
and deliver the model.
After a busy, productive and successful
year for the Scotland Region, we look
forward to the challenges that 2018
brings.

Dr Alana Burns receiving the John King Award from Chris and Debbie King at the Autumn
2017 Scientific Meeting with Craig Livie and John Wadsworth

South West and Wessex Region
Our spring regional meeting was held in
Exeter in March. The theme for the day
was pregnancy and screening.
The programme covered talks from a
range of clinical specialities and was
thoroughly engaging and thought
provoking. The autumn meeting in
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November was held jointly with the
trace metals Supra-Regional Assay
Service in Taunton. It was a fascinating
day with much for the delegates to
learn and take back to their base
hospitals. We had record attendance
with delegates coming from as far
afield as the Republic of Ireland.
Prior to this, the regional committee
had decided to modify the pricing
structure for the meetings in line with
the objectives of the ACB Council (£10
for members and £20 non-members).
It was felt that this had contributed to
the high attendance.
The committee is now at full strength
apart from a microbiology
representative. We were delighted to
welcome Oliver Clifford-Mobley to the
committee in 2017 as FCS regional
representative.
Generally trainees are progressing
satisfactorily. One has gained FRCPath
and two trainees (one scientific and
one medical) have passed Part 2
(practical) and require only to
complete the research project.
Post-STP job opportunities are good,
with all those who have completed
their training finding band 7 posts.
We have only one new STP trainee in
the region this year, based at
Southmead.
The regional audit lead has posted an
online audit about sweat testing to all
the regional members, the results of
which will be discussed at the spring
scientific meeting in 2018. Hopefully a
regional best practice document will
emerge as a result of this audit.
We continue to disseminate
information from the committee
meetings to all of our members via
our news sheet.
Southern Region
The Southern Region Committee met
three times during 2017 and all
meetings were well attended. Four
bursaries were awarded to attend
conferences.
Education has focussed on scientific
meetings, workshops and tutorials to
bridge the gap between the Scientist
Training Programme (STP) and practical
experience in less accessible areas of
the region. Trainees across the region
continue to be successful in completing
training and FRCPath exams. Two STP
trainees finished training and left to fill

substantive posts elsewhere in the UK
and two new trainees commenced
training. Many trainees attended Focus
2017 and the ACB training courses.

number of members in the region,
the excellent feedback and the
financial support from commercial
sponsors.

An STP elective presentation day was
organised by Rosalind Bray (inner
London trainee representative) and
held in December at the ACB offices.
This meeting brings established and
new trainees together, as well as
members of the Southern Region
Committee. It was well attended and
included a variety of talks based on
elective experiences. The trainees
appreciated the advice and ideas they
gained.

The Southern Region website has been
improved and updated by webmaster
Alan Courtney and includes information
relating to meetings and applications
for Southern Region bursary awards.
The first Southern region newsletter
has been put together by Kate Fenna,
one of the trainee representatives,
and was circulated in 2017.

We continue to have good attendance
and feedback at our Southern region
scientific meetings, coordinated by
Rebecca Powney. The first meeting of
the year in March was dedicated to the
memory of Prof Roger Ekins and
organised by the Supra-Regional Assay
Service for endocrinology as a joint
meeting with the University of
Westminster. Eighty delegates attended
and there was a fitting tribute to Prof
Ekins by Richard Chapman. The second
meeting of the year about new
biomarkers and technologies was
organised by Viapath. It was held in
October and included presentations for
the Bill Richmond Prize, which was
awarded to Nick Flynn for his talk
entitled ‘A case of oliveblastoma?’
and Ralph Wigley for his talk entitled
‘VOUS and you (how the functional
biochemistry laboratory has a growing
role in the genomic era’). The final
meeting of the year, celebrating the
career of Prof Kevin Spencer, focussed
on prenatal screening strategies. It was
organised by Barking, Havering and
Redbridge Hospitals and hosted at
Guy’s Hospital.
There is no formal social programme
for the Southern Region and therefore
we organise a drinks reception after
each scientific meeting to provide an
opportunity for members to socialise.
These have been well attended and
well received by our members.
We continue at least to break even on
our scientific meetings and are grateful
to all of the commercial sponsors who
provide generous funding to support
this important aspect of the Southern
Region’s work. We are also indebted to
the ACB office for their help in
organising the meetings. We hope to
continue arranging at least three
scientific meetings a year, given the

Trent, Northern and Yorkshire Region
The Trent Northern and Yorkshire (TNY)
Region resumed its activity from July
2017. The current membership of the
committee is as follows: newly
appointed chair, Nudar Jassam;
secretary, Sarah Glover; meetings
secretary and treasurer, Raf Azad;
regional tutors for Trent, Northern and
Yorkshire, Donna Fullerton, Tim Lang
and Adrian Millar respectively; FCS
representatives, Shirley Spoors (Trent)
and Paul Walker (Yorkshire); trainee
representatives, Abi Williams and Chris
Cockcroft; immunology and
microbiology representatives, Adrian
Heaps and Chris Holmes. Gemma
Minett (ordinary member, Yorkshire)
and Emma Holmes (FCS representative,
Northern) took maternity leave this
year but expressed their desire to
continue in their roles in 2018.
This year we co-opted Ahai Luvai to
join the TNY Committee as a clinical
practice section lead. We hope that he
will be formally elected into his role at
the next annual general meeting in
summer 2018.
The TNY Region, together with the
Yorkshire Laboratory Medicine
Discussion Group (YLMDG), hosted one
scientific meeting in Harrogate hospital
in November 2017. The morning session
was dedicated to trainee oral
presentations of abstracts that were
previously presented at Focus. The
feedback from the audience praised
the quality of the projects and the
speakers. The afternoon session
focussed on point-of-care testing in the
community and faecal immunochemical
test implementation. Each topic had
two speakers to cover the theoretical
and clinical aspects as well as the
operational aspect of the services.
We hope to enhance trainee
engagement at future meetings.
The meeting in March 2018 will be
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dedicated to the celebration of
Dr Geoffrey Walker’s career and his
contribution to our profession.
The morning session will be for the
delivery of the Geoffrey Walker Award
presentations.
There is continued regional
collaboration, with a number of issues
related to service harmonisation or
guideline implementation having been
addressed through the YLMDG over the
year. A key issue for next year’s plan is
to ensure the continued engagement of
regional members at scientific
meetings, participation in regional
activities and ensuring the continuity
of the TNY Committee through
succession planning.
Wales Region
The ACB Wales Region held its AGM on
9th March 2017 at Keir Hardie Health
Park, Merthyr Tydfil. A full committee
meeting was held on the 22nd June
2017 prior to the joint Summer
Scientific Meeting between the North
West and Wales regions on 23rd June
2017 at the Chester Race Course.
The meeting was well attended
(64 delegates) by members from both
regions. The Chair of the Welsh Region
(Prof John Geen) presented Steve Davis
with a token of the region’s
appreciation for all his hard work as an
active member of the regional ACB and
Audit Committees and for 40 years of
service in laboratory medicine.
The scientific meeting focussed on

Miss Freya Hassall (Cwm Taf University Health Board) receiving her first prize from
Dr Carol Evans at the Wales Regional ACB Scientific meeting November 2017

point-of-care testing and provided the
opportunity for clinical biochemists
and other healthcare professional
colleagues to demonstrate
innovative approaches to patient
care through collaborative working.
The presentations highlighted the
integral role of laboratory medicine in
leading, supporting and facilitating the
implementation of new analytical
technologies. There were also
presentations on the changing use of
high sensitivity troponin measurement
in the diagnosis and management of
patients presenting with suspected
acute coronary syndromes.
Representatives from a range of
diagnostics companies talked about
their latest developments and updated
the audience on tests and
instrumentation that could enhance
new ways of working.
Another full committee meeting was
held the day before the Wales Region
Autumn Scientific Meeting on 24th
November 2017, at the Keir Hardie
Medical Education Centre, Merthyr
Tydfil. The scientific meeting included
presentations on clinical audit
(haemoglobin variants), laboratory and
clinical aspects of haematinics, acute
kidney injury and the use of large data
sets for generating reference intervals.
The members’ papers session was well
represented by trainees across the
region who presented unusual cases
and high quality clinical audit. The
winner of the members’ papers award
was Freya Hassall, describing a patient
with a metformin overdose.

Prof John Geen presenting Mr Steve Davis
with a gift from the ACB Wales Region
in recognition of his contribution over
40 years

Membership of the ACB Wales Region
committee is as follows: chair, John
Geen; secretary, Sharman Harris;

meeting secretary, Kelly Mitchem;
treasurer, Jon Flowerday; regional
tutor, John Geen; FCS representative,
Geoffrey Armstrong; trainee
representative, Joanna Flatt; Clinical
Practice Section representative, Adam
Cookson; website, Gareth Davies;
ordinary members, Julia Walsh, Susan
Prosser, Brian Tennant; immunology
representative, Michael Melhuish and
audit representative (Chair of All Wales
Audit Group), Soha Zouwail. We are
still seeking microbiology and genetics
representation.
The region funded three travel
bursaries in 2017: one for attendance
at the Association for Mass
Spectrometry European conference
(MSACL) in Austria in September 2017;
one for attendance at the Big Data
workshop held at the ACB office in
November 2017, and one for a trainee
to attend a metabolic training day in
February at Bristol.
The Healthcare Science Strategic
Workforce Group is developing a
framework entitled: ‘Healthcare
Science in NHS Wales – Looking
Forward, the Science behind Prudent
Healthcare’. The framework will
demonstrate the essential role of
scientists in the delivery of health
care, highlighting the purpose, career
opportunities, the case for change,
challenges and future vision for
effective delivery of clinical sciences
in NHS Wales. The framework also
outlines how to identify the workforce,
education and training needs for the
future, in conjunction with the
national science, health and economic
strategies, including genomics and
precision medicine. It is due to be
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Both third year trainees in Wales have
obtained state registration and full
time posts at Manchester laboratories.
West Midlands Region
Three new STP trainees were
appointed during the year and are
progressing well, as are those in their
second year of training. One second
year trainee has secured a substantive
post at her base hospital dependent on
successful completion of training.
The three final year trainees have all
secured substantive posts within the
region. However, only one first year
post will be funded next year which is
very disappointing. There is one higher
specialist trainee in post, with another
position available. We also have one
medical trainee. Monthly tutorials for
trainees have continued within the
region.

The Organising Committee for the ACB North West and ACB Wales Joint Summer
Scientific Meeting in Chester
presented to the Welsh government for
ministerial sign off in early 2018. This
framework will be important for the
recently established Health Education
and Improvement Wales organisation,
formed from the merger of the Welsh
Deanery and the Wales Education and
Development Service, responsible for
medical and non-medical health
professionals in Wales.
The National Pathology Network
representative body is developing a
strategic document about the future
direction for pathology in Wales as a
draft statement of intent with a view
to seeking Cabinet Secretary (Health
Minister) approval. The Welsh Health
Secretary, Mr Vaughan Gething,
launched the Genomics and Precision

Medicine strategy for Wales in July
2017.
The All Wales Clinical Biochemistry
Audit group is very active; the group
has established a five year plan and is
encouraging trainees to be involved.
They meet every six months and have
started using video conferencing to
encourage attendance from across
Wales.
Committee members (Sharman Harris
and Julia Walsh) have represented
clinical scientists on the All Wales CRP
expert group and Procalcitonin expert
group (sub groups of the Welsh
Government Antimicrobial Delivery
Plan task and finish group).

There have been no scientific meetings
held in the Region. This is mainly
due to the challenges that are facing
the West Midlands, predominantly
hospital mergers and the associated
employment changes, including
probable job losses. This has been an
anxious time for the laboratories and
has caused an unprecedented amount
of work, with no time for other
activities.
Rachel Webster has completed her
term as Chair and has asked the
members of the region for expressions
of interest to succeed her. The current
regional tutor has secured a consultant
post in another region and so this post
will also be vacant from July 2018.
We are seeking a replacement. It is
becoming increasingly difficult to find
people who have the time to commit
to such roles.
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I have found my first year as Director of Finance for
The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory
Medicine (ACB) something of a challenge and I am grateful
for the support given to me by Nic Law, Cheryl Taylor, Mike
Lester, Ashley Shalloe and Christine Hall-Shelton (who are
all based in Tooley Street) and of course by members of the
Executive and Council. In addition, I would like to thank our
regional officers and especially the meetings secretaries for
all that they do on behalf of the ACB and its members.
We have had significant email correspondence, because of
the introduction of new rules (MedTech) governing scientific
meetings. I also act as treasurer for Lab Tests Online,
a role I could not fulfil without support from Dragana
Landup-Horgan.
The ACB had a deficit of income over expenditure of
£117,676 in the year ending 31st December 2017. Unrealised
gains on investments of £30,404 were lower than the
previous year (£70,490) so that overall the ACB’s total assets
fell from £2,559,592 to £2,472,320. This fall in financial
outturn was due largely to:
1. Unanticipated presentation of invoices for Focus dating
back to 2013.
2. Fixed assets such as office and computer equipment
being depreciated over three years rather than five.
3. Return on investments lower than 2016.
The presentation of invoices dating back to 2013 deserves
further explanation: the financial outturn for 2017 was
worse than predicted, at least in part because two invoices
totalling £40,765.20 were received from Meeting Makers for
Focus 2013 and 2015. Neither of these invoices had been
accrued for.
Whilst details of each year’s annual accounts can be found
in the relevant annual report, available on the ACB website,
the table below shows pertinent details from 2013-2018.
It would appear that at no time had outstanding invoices
from Focus 2013 been accrued for. Administration fees
for Focus 2015 and 2016 were accrued for in 2016,
but other fees (e.g. Focus website) were not. Final invoices
for 2013 and 2015 were submitted in late 2017 and the
Office Manager has confirmed that these are in fact due.

Incoming and outgoing Director of Finance Dr Mike Bosomworth
(left) and Dr William Marshall at Focus 2017 Royal Armouries,
Leeds

Accounts for Focus 2014 were finalised in year because this
meeting was held in association with Eurolab. From 2013 to
2016 three different accountants prepared the annual
accounts that were audited by three different auditors.
There are large swings in operating surpluses and losses and
in accruals each year. This makes it difficult to sense check
accounts especially when there is a lack of continuity with
accountants.

Year

Accountants

Surplus/(deficit)
on ordinary activities
after taxation (£)

Operating
surplus/(deficit)
(£)

Trade accural (£)
(includes Focus)

Total
accruals (£)

2013

Baker Tilley

115,253

90,812

33,601

505,111

2014

Grant Thornton

(90,874)

(106,755)

95,586

491,022

2015

Grant Thornton

129,640

83,750

109,539

388,976

2016

Buzzacott

54,146

(16,344)

61,211

442,337

2017

Buzzacott

(87,272)

(117,676)

58,633

323,175

Finance Report
Annual Report & Accounts 2017
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The ACB’s members are its major source of income and
sadly the number of members continues to decrease. Whilst
there could be financial advantages to the ACB if it were a
charity, this is not possible because the ACB is also a
trade union. The ACB may face significant costs when the
government brings in a new levy to fund the trade
union Certification Officer’s costs. The ACB does
therefore need to consider whether it wishes to remain
a trade union.
The ACB is responsible for three charities:
1. Clinical Biochemistry Conferences, the funds of
which are available to support educational activities
and scientific scholarships.
2. The CP Stewart Memorial Fund that is available to

support members wishing to learn new techniques
with a view to using them in their own laboratories.
3. The Benevolent Fund that supports members and the
Association’s staff in times of need. This fund was
particularly active in 2016.
Our relatively new accountants and auditors Buzzacott LLP
have been very helpful in continuing to review and suggest
changes to our financial processes. They have issued an
unqualified report on the ACB’s accounts and on those of
the three charities listed above. The Financial Statement
for 2017 follows this brief report.

Director of Finance:
Dr Mike Bosomworth

Association Membership
The total membership at 31st December 2017 (2016) was 2113 (2146) and included 37 (36) Honorary Members, 45 (47) Emeritus
Members, 39 (37) Fellow Members, 1177 (1212) Ordinary Members, 104 (112) Overseas Members, 8 (13) Student Members, 101 (104)
Federation Members, with 40 (43) Temporarily Retired and 562 (542) permanently Retired Members. Currently, 175 Members of the
ACB have Chartered Scientist status, of whom 121 registered through the Association.
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Directors’ Report
The directors present their annual report together with the financial statements of The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine
('the company' or 'the Association') for the year ended 31 December 2017.
Results and dividends
The loss for the year, after taxation (before unrealised gains on listed investments), amounted to £117,676 (2016 – loss £16,344).
Future developments
The Association's overall objectives remain unchanged. They include activities relating to education and training (including the organisation of regional and
national meetings), the promotion of research and development, publishing, public engagement and cooperation with nationally and internationally based
cognate organisations. We do not expect these objectives to change materially in the next 12 months.
Directors
The directors who served during the year were as listed above. On 26 January 2018, Dr G Lee resigned as a director of the company. On 26 January 2018,
Dr S J Costelloe was appointed as a director.
Directors' responsibilities statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors' report and the financial statements of the company in accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements of the company for each financial year. Under that law the directors have elected to
prepare the financial statements of the company in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’. Under company law
the directors must not approve the financial statements of the company unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements of the company, the directors are required to:
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies for the company's financial statements and then apply them consistently;
make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the company's transactions and disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements of the company comply with
the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors' report is approved has confirmed that:
•
•

so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is unaware, and
the director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the company's auditor is aware of that information.

Small companies note
In preparing this report, the directors have taken advantage of the small companies exemptions provided by section 415A of the Companies Act 2006.
This report was approved by the board and signed on its behalf by

Dr M P Bosomworth, Director
10th May 2018
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of The Association for Clinical Biochemistry
and Laboratory Medicine
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine (the 'company') for the year ended 31 December
2017, which comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, the Statement of financial position, the Statement of changes in equity and the related notes,
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland' (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's report and for no other purpose. To
the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members, as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2017 and of its result for the year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, including the Financial Reporting
Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:
•
•

the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or
the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the company's ability
to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than the financial
statements and our Auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•
•

the information given in the Directors' report for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial
statements; and
the Directors' report has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of our knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material
misstatements in the Directors' report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
•
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small companies regime and take advantage of the small
companies' exemptions in preparing the Directors' report and from the requirement to prepare a Strategic report.

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the Directors' responsibilities statement on page 27, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
Mark Worsey (Senior statutory auditor)
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, London
11th May 2018
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Note

2017

As restated
2016

£

£

Turnover
Gross profit
Administrative expenses

3

829,505
829,505
(989,694)

889,461
889,461
(946,270)

Operating loss
Income from fixed asset investments
Surplus on disposal of investments
Interest receivable and similar income

4

(160,189)
15,509
26,967
37

(56,809)
18,418
21,682
365

Loss before tax

(117,676)

(16,344)

Loss for the financial year

(117,676)

(16,344)

30,404

70,490

Other comprehensive income for the year

730,404

70,490

Total comprehensive income for the year

(87,272)

51,146

7

Unrealised gains on listed investments

There were no recognised gains and losses for 2017 or 2016 other than those included in the statement of comprehensive income.
The notes on pages 30 to 34 form part of these financial statements.

Statement of financial position
As at 31 December 2017

As restated
Note

2017
£

2016
£

680
717,902
1,596,127
2,314,709

1,360
786,967
1,569,258
2,357,585

Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments

9
10
11

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

12
13

55,571
498,142
553,713

104,320
612,951
717,271

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

14

(323,175)

(442,337)

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Provisions for liabilities
Deferred tax

230,538
2,545,247
16

Net assets
Capital and reserves
Revaluation reserve
Other reserves
Profit and loss account

17
17
17

274,934
2,632,519

(72,927)

(79,927)
(72,927)
2,472,320

(72,927)
2,559,592

408,848
1,832,490
230,982
2,472,320

378,444
1,840,013
341,135
2,559,592

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions applicable to companies subject to the small companies'
regime and in accordance with the provisions of FRS 102 Section 1A – small entities.
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf by
Dr M P Bosomworth, Director
10th May 2018
The notes on pages 30 to 34 form part of these financial statements.

30 Reports and Financial Statements

Statement of changes in equity
As at 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2016
Loss for the year
Unrealised gains on listed investments
Transfer to/from profit and loss account
At 1 January 2017

Revaluation
reserve
£
307,954
70,490
378,444

Loss for the year
Unrealised gains on listed investments
Transfer to/from profit and loss account

30,404
-

At 31 December 2017

408,848

Other
reserves
£
1,836,069
3,944
1,840,013
(7,523)
1,832,490

Profit and
loss account
£
361,423
(16,344)
(3,944)
341,135

Total
equity
£
2,505,446
(16,344)
70,490
2,559,592

(117,676)
7,523

(117,676)
30,404
-

230,982

2,472,320

Notes to the Financial Statements
1.

General information
The company is a private company limited by guarantee and is incorporated in the United Kingdom (England and Wales). Its registered
office is 130-132 Tooley Street, London, SE1 2TU. The company registration number is 00863235.

2. Accounting Policies
2.1 Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention unless otherwise specified within these
accounting policies and in accordance with Section 1A of Financial Reporting Standard 102, the Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland ('FRS 102') and the Companies Act 2006.
The company is a parent undertaking of a small group and as such is not required by the Companies 2006 to prepare group accounts.
These financial statements therefore present information about the company as an individual undertaking and not about its group.
The following principal accounting policies have been applied:
2.2 Going concern
The company's forecasts and projections, taking account of reasonably possible changes in trading performance, show that the
company can meet its liabilities as they fall due.
On this basis, the directors consider that the company will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and
accordingly the directors consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis.
2.3 Turnover
Turnover comprises revenue recognised by the company in respect of goods and services supplied during the year, exclusive of Value
Added Tax and trade discounts.
Annual subscriptions are allocated according to their renewal date which runs synchronous with the financial year. Subscriptions
relating to the year under review are included in the Statement of comprehensive income and those relating to the following year
are shown in creditors as prepaid subscriptions.
Turnover from a contract to provide services is recognised in the period in which the services are provided in accordance with the
stage of completion of the contract when all of the following conditions are satisfied:
• the amount of turnover can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the company will receive the consideration due under the contract;
• the stage of completion of the contract at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred and the costs to complete the contract can be measured reliably.
2.4 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. After recognition, under the cost model, intangible assets are measured at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
All intangible assets are considered to have a finite useful life. If a reliable estimate of the useful life cannot be made, the useful
life shall not exceed ten years.
The estimated useful lives range as follows:
Software

-

3 years

2.5 Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets under the cost model are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
The company adds to the carrying amount of an item of fixed assets the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost is
incurred, if the replacement part is expected to provide incremental future benefits to the company. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight
line method.
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Depreciation is provided on the following basis:
Long-term leasehold property
Office equipment
Computer equipment

-

2%
25%
33%

straight line
straight line
straight line

The assets' residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted prospectively if appropriate, or if
there is an indication of a significant change since the last reporting date.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the
Statement of comprehensive income.
2.6

Valuation of investments
Investments are measured at the fair value of the portfolio investment. Gains and losses on remeasurement are recognised in other
comprehensive income in the year.

2.7

Debtors
Short-term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. Loans receivable are measured initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment.

2.8

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice of not more than
24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that mature in no more than three months from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

2.9

Financial instruments
The company only enters into basic financial instruments transactions that result in the recognition of financial assets and
liabilities like trade and other debtors and creditors, loans from banks and other third parties, loans to related parties and
investments in non puttable ordinary shares.
Financial assets that are measured at cost and amortised cost are assessed at the end of each reporting period for objective
evidence of impairment. If objective evidence of impairment is found, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of
comprehensive income.
For financial assets measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is measured as the difference between an asset's
carrying amount and best estimate of the recoverable amount, which is an approximation of the amount that the company would
receive for the asset if it were to be sold at the reporting date.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial position when there is an
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

2.10 Creditors
Short-term creditors are measured at the transaction price. Other financial liabilities, including bank loans, are measured initially
at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
2.11 Operating leases: the company as lessee
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the lease
term.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to sign an operating lease are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease
term, unless another systematic basis is representative of the time pattern of the lessee's benefit from the use of the leased asset.
2.12 Interest income
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest method.
2.13 Current and deferred taxation
The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income,
except that a charge attributable to an item of income and expense recognised as other comprehensive income or to an item
recognised directly in equity is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the reporting date in the countries where the company operates and generates income.
Deferred tax balances are recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed by the Statement
of financial position date, except that:
• The recognition of deferred tax assets is limited to the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the
reversal of deferred tax liabilities or other future taxable profits; and
• Any deferred tax balances are reversed if and when all conditions for retaining associated tax allowances have been met.
Deferred tax balances are not recognised in respect of permanent differences except in respect of business combinations, when
deferred tax is recognised on the differences between the fair values of assets acquired and the future tax deductions available
for them and the differences between the fair values of liabilities acquired and the amount that will be assessed for tax. Deferred
tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.
3.

Turnover
The whole of the turnover is attributable to promoting the advancement of Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine. All turnover
arose within the United Kingdom.
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4.

Operating loss
The operating loss is stated after charging:

2017
£
70,763
680

2016
£
30,777
680

10,500
15,206

10,000
12,830

2017
£
15,509

2016
£
18,418

2017
£
37

2016
£
365

2017
£
-

2016
£
-

Total deferred tax

-

-

Taxation on profit on ordinary activities

-

-

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
Amortisation of intangible assets, including goodwill
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for the audit of the
company's annual financial statements
Defined contribution pension cost
5.

Employees
The average monthly number of employees, including directors, during the year was 7 (2016 - 7).
During the year, no director received any emoluments (2016 – £nil).

6.

Income from investments
Income from fixed asset investments

7.

Interest receivable
Other interest receivable

8.

Taxation
Total current tax
Deferred tax

Factors affecting tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is higher than (2016 – lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19.25% (2016 - 20%).
The differences are explained below:
2017
2016
£
£
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax
(117,676)
16,344
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in
the UK of 19.25% (2016 - 20%)

22,653

Effects of:
Other differences leading to an increase (decrease) in the tax charge
Total tax charge for the year
9.

(3,269)

(22,653)

3,269

-

-

Intangible assets

Software
£

Cost
At 1 January 2017
At 31 December 2017

2,040
2,040

Amortisation
At 1 January 2017
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2017

680
680
1,360

Net book value
At 31 December 2017
At 31 December 2016

680
1,360

10. Tangible fixed assets

Long-term
leasehold property

Office
equipment

Computer
equipment

Total

£

£

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2017
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 2017

£

£

1,068,067
–
1,068,067

57,343
856
58,199

57,499
842
(23,473)
34,868

Depreciation
At 1 January 2017
Charge for the year
At 31 December 2017

341,559
21,361
362,920

36,408
13,443
49,851

17,975
12,486
30,461

1,812,909
1,698
(23,473)
1,161,134
395,942
47,290
443,232
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Net book value
At 31 December 2017

705,147

8,348

4,407

717,902

At 31 December 2016

762,508

20,935

39,524

786,967

The accounting estimate for depreciation on office equipment and computer equipment was updated by the company during the year.
The net assets of the company at 31 December 2017 has been reduced by £14,517 as a result of this change.
11. Fixed asset investments
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2017
Additions
Disposals
Revaluations
At 31 December 2017

Listed
investments
£
1,469,258
241,541
(245,076)
30,404
1,496,127

Unlisted
investments
£
100,000
100,000

Total
£
1,569,258
241,541
(245,076)
30,404
1,596,127

Net book value
At 31 December 2017

1,496,127

100,000

1,596,127

At 31 December 2016

1,469,258

100,000

1,569,258

The cost of listed investments (including cash held awaiting investment) at 31 December 2017 was £1,101,871 (2016 – £1,092,215).
Unlisted investments comprise £100,000 Lombard international bond. Accordingly they are included at cost less provision for any
permanent diminution in value.
The Association for Clinical Biochemistry and Laboratory Medicine is the parent undertaking of Clinical Biochemistry Conferences,
a company limited by guarantee and a registered charity, by virtue of common control. The company was incorporated on 8 January 2003
and the objects of the charity are to advance, spread and increase the knowledge, for the public benefit, of all aspects of the study of
medical science concerned with clinical biochemistry and laboratory medicine and their diagnostic systems.
Clinical Biochemistry Conferences prepares accounts to 31 December. The latest account prepared for the year ended 31 December 2017
showed a loss of £3,598 (2016 – £7,787) and total reserves of £92,244 (2016 – £95,842).
12. Debtors
Trade debtors
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income

13. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and in hand

14. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Trade creditors
Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other taxation and social security
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income

15. Financial instruments
Financial assets
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

2017
£
14,174
19,359
22,038
55,571

2016
£
27,642
11,201
65,478
104,321

2017
£
498,142

2016
£
612,951

2017
£
58,633
87,963
3,754
100,188
72,637
323,175

2016
£
61,211
88,733
769
110,494
181,130
442,337

2017
£

2016
£

498,142
33,533

629,489
38,843

141,230

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss comprise cash at bank and in hand.
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost comprise trade debtors and other debtors.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost comprise trade creditors and amounts owed to group undertakings.

149,944
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16. Deferred taxation

2017
£
(72,927)
(72,927)

At beginning of year
At end of year
The provision for deferred taxation is made up as follows:
Provision for timing differences

2017
£
(72,927)

2016
£
(72,927)

17. Reserves
Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve represents the unrealised increase in market value above original cost on listed investments held at the end
of the financial period.
Other reserves
The fixed asset fund represents the balance of the Association's funds that are invested in tangible fixed assets, intangible assets and
investments at cost, less the balance of the loan owed to Clinical Biochemistry Conferences.
Profit and loss account
Includes all other current and prior period retained profits and losses.
18. Company status
The company is a private company limited by guarantee and consequently does not have share capital. Each of the members is liable to
contribute an amount not exceeding £1 towards the assets of the company in the event of liquidation.
19. Pension commitments
The company operates a defined contributions pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the
company in an independently administered fund. The pension cost charge represents contributions payable by the company to the fund
and amounted to £15,206 (2016 - £12,830). Contributions totalling £3,546 (2016 – £nil) were payable to the fund at the reporting date.
22. Commitments under operating leases
At 31 December 2017 the Company had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

After more than 5 years

2017
£
584,100

2016
£
584,400

The commitment relates to yearly rent in respect of the property leases and there were 981 years remaining on the operating lease as
at 31 December 2017 (2016 – 982).
23. Related Party Transactions
During the year the company repaid £770 of the loan due to Clinical Biochemistry Conferences. At 31 December 2017 £87,963
(2016 – £88,733) was due to Clinical Biochemistry Conferences, a subsidiary of the association, in the form of an interest free loan.
During the year CP Stewart Memorial Fund received an addition to their loan totalling £1,000 from the company. At 31 December 2017
£5,232 (2016 – £4,232) was due from C P Stewart Memorial Fund, a charity of which Dr M P Bosomworth, Prof I S Young and Mr P Newland
are trustees.
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Benevolent Fund
Trustees for the year ended 31 December 2017
Represented by the Benevolent Fund Committee
President & Chairman Prof I S Young, President & Chairman (appointed 11 May 2017)
Treasurer & Secretary Dr M P Bosomworth, Treasurer & Secretary (appointed 11 May 2017)
Dr J H Horner, Trustee
Trustees
Mrs R Lapworth MBE, Trustee (appointed 11 May 2017)
Dr W J Marshall
Dr H Worth, Trustee
Charity registered number
254213
Principal Office
c/o The Association for Clinical Biochemistry & Laboratory Medicine
130-132 Tooley Street
London
SE1 2TU
Accountants
Buzzacott LLP
Chartered Accountants
130 Wood Street
London
EC2V 6DL
Bankers
HSBC Bank Plc
281 Chiswick High Road
Chiswick
London
W4 4HJ

Trustees’ Report
The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements of The Association of Clinical Biochemists Benevolent Fund for the year ended
31 December 2017.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out on page 9 of the attached financial statements and comply with
the charity’s Deed of Trust, the Charities Act 2011 and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their financial statements in accordance with The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), effective from
accounting periods commencing 1 January 2015 or later.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
The charity is governed by a Deed of Trust dated 24 October 1967 as amended by Deed and Resolution dated 15 May 2013.
Method of appointment or election of Trustees
The management of the charity is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected and co-opted under the terms of the Articles of Association.
The Trustees meet on an ad hoc basis to consider issues. Day to day decisions in relation to the organisation and management of the Fund are contracted to a
third party.
New Trustees are appointed by the Trustees with reference to the needs of the business and the particular attributes of the individuals under consideration.
Induction and training of new Trustees is conducted by the Secretary.
The Trustees who served during the year were:
Dr M P Bosomworth, Treasurer & Secretary (appointed 11 May 2017)
Dr G Challand, Trustee (resigned 11 May 2017)
Dr J H Horner, Trustee
Mrs R Lapworth MBE, Trustee (appointed 11 May 2017)
Dr W J Marshall, Trustee
Dr G McCreanor, President & Chairman (resigned 11 May 2017)
Dr H Worth, Trustee
Prof I S Young, President & Chairman (appointed 11 May 2017)
Key management personnel remuneration
The Trustees consider the board of Trustees as comprising the key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling the charity and
running and operating the charity on a day to day basis. All Trustees give of their time freely and no Trustee remuneration or expenses were paid in the year.
Policies and objectives
The objective of the charity is the help of necessitous persons who are or have been members or employees of the Association whether they are subscribers to
the Fund or not and the dependents of deceased or disabled past or present members or employees of the Association.

Achievements and performance
Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the
adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the accounting policies.
Review of activities
The net outgoing resources for the period were £5,263 (2016: £9,842).
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Financial review
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Trustees have reviewed the major risks to which the charity is exposed and established systems to mitigate them. The Trustees consider the principal risk
facing the charity to be its dependence on the Trustees’ own time and energies, voluntarily donated.
Reserves policy
It is the policy of the charity to maintain unrestricted funds which are adequate to fulfil the objectives of the charity, subject to the limitations placed on the
use of funds which has resulted in reserves building up to the current level. Any surplus funds are held in investments or short-term deposits to help maintain the
income levels for future years. Amounts have been paid to beneficiaries over the past few years and the Trustees will endeavour to find suitable persons whom
the charity can help.
The Trustees consider the current level of free reserves to be sufficient to meet the future needs of the charity.

Other considerations
Public benefit
The Trustees have given due consideration to Charity Commission published guidance on the public benefit requirements. The Trust constitutes a public benefit
entity as defined by FRS 102.
Trustees' responsibilities statements
The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in England & Wales requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the charity and of the income and expenditure of the charity for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Trustees are
required to:
•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their
financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102);
make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial
statements;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in business.

The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and
to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations, and the
provisions of the Trust deed. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity's website. Legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
This report was approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr M P Bosomworth, Trustee

Independent Examiner’s Report
Independent examiner's report to the Trustees of The Association of Clinical Biochemists Benevolent Fund
I report on the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2017 which comprise the Statement of financial activities, Balance sheet and
Cash flow statement, with the related notes.
This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 145 of the Charities Act 2011 and regulations made under section 154
of that Act. My work has been undertaken so that I might state to the charity’s Trustees those matters I am required to state to them in an Independent
examiner’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and
the charity’s Trustees as a body, for my work or for this report.
Responsibilities and basis of report
As the trustees of the charity you are responsible for the preparation of the accounts in accordance with the requirements of the Charities Act 2011 (‘the Act’).
I report in respect of my examination of the charity’s accounts carried out under section 145 of the 2011 Act and in carrying out my examination I have followed
all the applicable Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5)(b) of the Act.
Independent examiner’s statement
I have completed my examination. I confirm that no material matters have come to my attention in connection with the examination giving me cause to believe
that in any material respect:
•

accounting records were not kept in respect of the charity as required by section 130 of the Act; or

•

the accounts do not accord with those records; or

•

the accounts do not comply with the applicable requirements concerning the form and content of accounts set out in the Charities (Accounts and
Reports) Regulations 2008 other than any requirement that the accounts give a ‘true and fair’ view which is not a matter considered as part of an
independent examination.

I have no concerns and have come across no other matters in connection with the examination to which attention should be drawn in this report in order to
enable a proper understanding of the accounts to be reached.
Mark Worsey FCA
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP, London
11th May 2018
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Statement of Financial Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2016
Note

Unrestricted funds
2017
£

Total funds
2017
£

1,092
1,092

1,092
1,092

998
998

6,355

6,355

10,840

6,355

6,355

10,840

Income
Donations
Total income
Expenditure
Charitable activities
Total expenditure

2

Total funds
2016
£

Net income/(expenditure) before other recognised gains and losses

(5,263)

(5,263)

(9,842)

Net movement in funds

(5,263)

(5,263)

(9,842)

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward

43,151

43,151

52,993

Total funds carried forward

37,888

37,888

43,151

All activities relate to continuing operations.
The Statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.
All the charity’s activities derived from continuing operations during the above two financial periods.
The notes on pages 30 to 34 form part of these financial statements.

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2017
Note
Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

4

Net current assets
Net assets
Charity funds
Unrestricted funds

5

Total charity funds

£

2017
£

£

38,642

44,922

(754)

(1,771)

2016
£

37,888
37,888

43,151
43,151

37,888

43,151

37,888

43,151

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr M P Bosomworth, Trustee
10th May 2018
This report is a summary of the full report and financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained on application to the Association's office or is
available on the Association’s website.
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C.P. Stewart Memorial Fund
Trustees for the year ended 31 December 2017
Represented by the CP Stewart Fund Committee
President & Chairman Prof I S Young, Chair (appointed 3 May 2017)
Dr M P Bosomworth, Treasurer (appointed 3 May 2017)
Treasurer
Mr P Newland
Secretary
Charity registered numbers
269345 and SC004417
Principal Office
c/o The Association for Clinical Biochemistry & Laboratory Medicine
130-132 Tooley Street
London
SE1 2TU
Accountants
Buzzacott LLP
Chartered Accountants
130 Wood Street
London
EC2V 6DL
Bankers
HSBC Bank Plc
281 Chiswick High Road
Chiswick
London
W4 4HJ

Trustees’ Report
The Trustees present their annual report together with the financial statements of The C.P. Stewart Memorial Fund for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The report has been prepared in accordance with Part 8 of the Charities Act 2011.
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in the attached financial statements and comply with the
charity’s Deed of Trust, the Charities Act 2011 and Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities
preparing their financial statements in accordance with The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), effective from
accounting periods commencing 1 January 2015 or later.

Structure, Governance and Management
Constitution
The charity is governed by a Deed of Trust dated 29 January 1974.
Method of appointment or election of Trustees
The management of the charity is the responsibility of the Trustees who are elected and co-opted under the terms of the Trust deed.
The Trustees meet on an ad hoc basis to consider issues. Day to day decisions in relation to the organisation and management of the Fund are contracted to a
third party.
New Trustees are appointed by the board with reference to the needs of the business and the particular attributes of the individuals under consideration. Induction
and training of new Trustees is conducted by the Secretary.
The Trustees who served during the year were:
Dr M P Bosomworth, Treasurer (appointed 3 May 2017)
Dr W J Marshall, Treasurer (resigned 3 May 2017)
Dr G McCreanor, Chair (resigned 3 May 2017)
Mr P Newland, Secretary
Prof I S Young, Chair (appointed 3 May 2017)

Objectives and Activities
Policies and objectives
The principal objective of the charity is to fund the advancement of scientific knowledge and education by providing financial support to enable scientists to visit
laboratories within the United Kingdom or elsewhere for the purposes of learning specialised techniques to obtain first hand knowledge from a recognised expert
in a field that would assist them in their studies.

Achievements and performance
Going concern
After making appropriate enquiries, the Trustees have a reasonable expectation that the charity has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for
the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. Further details regarding the
adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the accounting policies.
Review of activities
The net outgoing resources for the period were £1,110 (as restated 2016: £5,024).
Principal risks and uncertainties
The Trustees have reviewed the major risks to which the charity is exposed and established systems to mitigate them. The Trustees consider the principal risk
facing the charity to be its dependence on the Trustees’ own time and energies, voluntarily donated.
Reserves policy
It is the policy of the charity to maintain unrestricted funds which are adequate to fulfil the objectives of the charity, subject to the limitations placed on the
use of funds which has resulted in reserves building up to the current level. Any surplus funds are held in short-term money market deposits to help maintain the
income levels for future years.
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The Trustees consider the current level of free reserves to be sufficient to meet the future needs of the charity.
Key management personnel remuneration
The Trustees consider the board of Trustees as comprising the key management personnel of the charity in charge of directing and controlling the charity and
running and operating the charity on a day to day basis. All Trustees give their time freely and no Trustee remuneration or expenses were paid in the year.

Other considerations
Trustees’ responsibilities statement
The charity Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
The law applicable to charities in Scotland, England and Wales requires the Trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the income and expenditure of the charity for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees
are required to:
•
•
•
•
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
observe the methods and principles in Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their
financial statements in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102);
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charity will continue in business operation.

The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the charity and financial information included on the charity’s website. Legislation in the United
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
The Trustees are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and
to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Charity and Trustees Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, the Charity
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended), the applicable Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations, and the provisions of the Trust deed. They are
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and taking reasonable steps for the prevention and direction of fraud and other irregularities.
This report was approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by:
Dr M P Bosomworth, Trustee
10th May 2018

Independent Examiner’s Report
Independent examiner's report to the Trustees of The C P Stewart Memorial Fund
I report on the financial statements of the charity for the year ended 31 December 2017 which comprise the Statement of financial activities, Balance sheet and
Cash flow statement, with the related notes.
This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees, as a body, in accordance with section 145 of the Charities Act 2011, and regulations made under section 154
of that Act, and regulation 11 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006. My work has been undertaken so that I might state to the charity’s Trustees
those matters I am required to state to them in an Independent examiner’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, I do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and the charity’s Trustees as a body, for my work or for this report.
Responsibilities and basis of report
As the trustees of the Trust you are responsible for the preparation of the accounts in accordance with the requirements of the Charities and Trustee Investment
(Scotland) Act 2005 (the ‘2005 Act’), the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the Charities Act 2011 (‘the 2011 Act’). You are
satisfied that your charity is not required by charity law to be audited and have chosen instead to have an independent examination.
I report in respect of my examination of the Trust’s accounts as carried out under section 44(1) (c) of the 2005 Act and section 145 of the 2011 Act. In carrying
out my examination I have followed the requirements of Regulation 11 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the applicable
Directions given by the Charity Commission under section 145(5) (b) of the 2011 Act.
Independent examiner’s statement
Since the Trust has prepared its accounts on an accruals basis and is also registered in Scotland your examiner must be a member of a body listed in Regulation
11(2) of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). I can confirm that I am qualified to undertake the examination because I am a
registered member of the ICAEW, which is one of the listed bodies.
I have completed my examination. I confirm that no matters have come to my attention giving me cause to believe that in any material respect:
1)

accounting records were not kept in respect of the Trust as required by section 44 (1) (a) of the 2005 Act and Regulation 4 of the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and section 130 of the 2011 Act; or

2)

the accounts do not accord with those records; or

3)

the accounts do not comply with the accounting requirements Regulation 8 of the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended) and do not
comply with the applicable requirements concerning the form and content of accounts set out in the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008
other than any requirement that the accounts give a ‘true and fair view which is not a matter considered as part of an independent examination.

I have no concerns and have come across no other matters in connection with the examination to which attention should be drawn in this report in order to
enable a proper understanding of the accounts to be reached.
Mark Worsey FCA
For and on behalf of Buzzacott LLP
Chartered Accountants
130 Wood Street
London EC2V 6DL
11th May 2018

40 C.P. Stewart Memorial Fund

Statement of Financial Activities
For the year ended 31 December 2017
Note

Unrestricted funds
2017
£

Total funds
2017
£

Total funds
2016
£

35
35

35
35

48
48

1,145

1,145

5,072

1,145

1,145

5,072

Income
Investment income
Total income
Expenditure
Charitable activities

2

Total expenditure
Net expenditure before other recognised gains and losses

(1,110)

(1,110)

(5,024)

Net movement in funds

(1,110)

(1,110)

(5,024)

Reconciliation of funds
Total funds brought forward

14,831

14,831

19,855

Total funds carried forward

13,721

13,721

14,831

The Statement of financial activities includes all gains and losses recognised in the year.
All the charity's activities derived from continuing operations during the above two financial periods.
The notes on pages 30 to 34 form part of these financial statements.

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2017
Note
Current assets
Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

4

Net current assets
Charity funds
Unrestricted funds

5

Total funds

£

2017
£

£

19,463

19,903

(5,742)

(5,072)

As restated
2016
£

13,721
13,721

14,831
14,831

13,721

14,831

13,721

14,831

The financial statements were approved by the Trustees and signed on their behalf by
Dr M P Bosomworth, Trustee
10th May 2018
This report is a summary of the full report and financial statements, a copy of which may be obtained on application to the Association's office or is
available on the Association’s website.
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